
Lake Whatcom Water & Sewer District 

Board Meeting Access Information 

Join the meeting from your computer, tablet smartphone:     https://meet.goto.com/351308037 

You can also dial in using your phone.      

Call:  +1 (872) 240-3212     Access Code: 351-308-037 Press *6 to mute/unmute your microphone  
 

New to GoToMeeting? Get the app now and be ready when the meeting starts:      

https://meet.goto.com/install 

Wed Feb 08, 2023  

6:30 pm - 8:30 pm 
Next Meeting: 

Page 1 of 46

https://meet.goto.com/351308037
tel:+18722403212
https://meet.goto.com/install


 

  
LAKE WHATCOM WATER AND SEWER DISTRICT 

1220 Lakeway Drive 
Bellingham, WA  98229 

 

 
REGULAR MEETING OF THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

 
AGENDA 

February 8, 2023 
6:30 p.m. – Regular Session 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER 
 
2. ROLL CALL 
 
3. PUBLIC COMMENT OPPORTUNITY 

At this time, members of the public may address the Board of Commissioners. Please state 
your name and address prior to making comments, and limit your comments to three 
minutes. For the sake of time, each public comment period will be limited to 45 minutes. 

 
4. ADDITIONS, DELETIONS, OR CHANGES TO THE AGENDA 
 
5. CONSENT AGENDA 
 
6. SPECIFIC ITEMS OF BUSINESS 

A. Sudden Valley Community Assoc. Culvert 315 Developer Extension Agreement Approval 
B. Commissioner Protocol Manual Revision 
C. Capital Surplus Policy Creation Discussion 
D. Review of District Compensation Philosophy 

 
7. OTHER BUSINESS 
 
8. STAFF REPORTS 

A. General Manager 
 
9. PUBLIC COMMENT OPPORTUNITY 
 
10. ADJOURNMENT 

Page 2 of 46



 

  
 

Consent Agenda 
 

DATE SUBMITTED:  February 2, 2023 MEETING DATE: February 8, 2023 

TO: BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS FROM:  Rachael Hope 

GENERAL MANAGER APPROVAL 
 

ATTACHED DOCUMENTS 1. See below 

TYPE OF ACTION REQUESTED 
RESOLUTION 

 
 

FORMAL ACTION/ 
MOTION 

 

INFORMATIONAL

/OTHER 
 

**TO BE UPDATED 2.08.2023** 
 
BACKGROUND / EXPLANATION OF IMPACT 

• Minutes for the 01.11.23 Regular Board Meeting 

• Minutes for the 01.25.23 Regular Board Meeting 

• Payroll Taxes for 4th Quarter 2022 totaling $8,865.94 

• Payroll for Pay Period #03 (01.21.2022 through 02.03.23) total to be added 

• Payroll Benefits for Pay Period #03 total to be added 

• Accounts Payable Vouchers total to be added 
 

FISCAL IMPACT 
Fiscal impact is as indicated in the payroll/benefits/accounts payable quantities defined 
above. All costs are within the Board-approved 2023 Budget. 

RECOMMENDED BOARD ACTION 
Staff recommends the Board approve the Consent Agenda. 

PROPOSED MOTION 
A recommended motion is: 

“I move to approve the Consent Agenda as presented.” 
 

AGENDA 
BILL 

Item 5 

Page 3 of 46



Meeting Minutes January 11, 2023 P a g e  | 1 

 

  
LAKE WHATCOM WATER AND SEWER DISTRICT 

1220 Lakeway Drive 
Bellingham, WA  98229 

 

 

REGULAR SESSION OF THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

Minutes 
 

January 11, 2023 
 

Commissioner Laura Abele called the Regular Session to order at 6:47 p.m. Scheduled 6:30 start time 
was delayed due to technical issues.   
 
Attendees: Commissioner Laura Abele (v) General Manager Justin Clary 
 Commissioner Todd Citron (v) District Engineer/Assistant GM Bill Hunter 
 Commissioner Bruce Ford Finance Manager/Treasurer Jenny Signs 
 Commissioner John Carter Operations & Maintenance Manager Jason Dahlstrom 
 Commissioner Jeff Knakal Recording Secretary Rachael Hope 
  District Legal Counsel Bob Carmichael 
        
Roll Call 
General Manager Justin Clary performed a roll call. Attendees noted with (v) attended the meeting 
virtually. 
 
Changes to Agenda 
Clary requested the addition of two items to the meeting agenda: 

1. Addition of Item 6.E: 2023-24 Sanitary Sewer Rehab Unit Price Contract No. C2217 Work Order 
Authorization 

2. Addition under “Other Business” of announcement from Commissioner Abele. 
The Board agreed. 
 
Consent Agenda 
 

Action Taken 
Citron moved, Ford seconded, approval of: 

• Payroll for Pay Period #26 (12.10.2022 through 12.23.2022) totaling $53,887.75 

• Payroll Benefits for Pay Period #26 totaling $31,152.81 

• Payroll for Pay Period #01 (12.24.2022 through 01.06.23) totaling $61,599.47 

• Payroll Benefits for Pay Period #01 totaling $65,776.23 

• Accounts Payable Vouchers totaling $226,295.00 
Motion passed. 

 
Election of Board Officers 
Clary recalled that the District operates under the authority of Revised Code of Washington (RCW) Title 
57, Water-Sewer Districts. Under RCW 57.12.010, “the board shall annually elect one of its members as 
president and another as secretary.” The District has historically fulfilled this statutory obligation during 
its first meeting of the calendar year. Discussion followed. 

Page 4 of 46



Meeting Minutes January 11, 2023 P a g e  | 2 

 
Action Taken 
Carter moved, Citron seconded, to appoint Commissioner Citron to serve as District Board 
President for the 2023 calendar year.  Motion passed. 
 
Citron moved, Carter seconded, to appoint Commissioner Carter to serve as District Board 
Secretary for the 2023 calendar year. Motion passed. 
 

At 6:54 p.m. outgoing Board President Abele passed the gavel to incoming Board President Citron, who 
assumed governance of the meeting. 
 
Appointment of Board Representatives to the District’s Investment Committee 
Clary explained that chapter 2.14 of the District’s administrative code establishes an Investment 
Committee, which is comprised of the finance manager/treasurer, general manager, and two 
commissioners. Duties of the committee include, at a minimum, quarterly review of the District’s 
investment portfolio and rate structure (Chapter 2.4) and annual review of the District’s investment 
policy (Chapter 2.14). Discussion followed. 
 

Action Taken 
Ford moved, Carter seconded, to appoint Commissioner Knakal and Commissioner Carter to 
serve as the Board’s representatives on the District’s Investment Committee for the 2023 
calendar year. Motion passed. 

 
Appointment of Board Representatives to the Whatcom County Council of Governments and the Lake 
Whatcom Management Program Policy Group  

Clary explained that the District annually appoints a representative to serve on the Whatcom County 
Council of Governments and a representative to serve on the Lake Whatcom Management Program 
Policy Group. Discussion followed. 
 

Action Taken 
Carter moved, Ford seconded, to appoint Commissioner Ford to serve as the Board’s 
representative on the Lake Whatcom Management Program Policy Group and Commissioner 
Knakal to serve as the Board’s representative on the Whatcom County Council of 
Governments for the 2023 calendar year. Motion passed. 
 

Commissioner Social Media Use Policy Discussion 
Clary summarized that at the request of Commissioner Ford, staff reviewed District policy relative to 
commissioner use of social media related to District business. The District has steadily increased its use 
of tools such as Facebook and NextDoor agency pages since it created its first social media accounts in 
2019. Recognizing that the current Social Media Program is more applicable to staff than 
commissioners, staff reviewed the Commissioner Protocol Manual, and found it is silent on specific 
guidelines for commissioner use of social media. Discussion followed, and the Board requested staff 
develop a more specific policy for inclusion in the Commissioner Protocol Manual. 
 
2023-24 Sanitary Sewer Rehab Unit Price Contract No. C2217 Work Order Authorization 
Clary recounted that the District routinely budgets funding to find and repair inflow and infiltration (I&I) 
sources as part of its annual reinvestment in sewer system rehabilitation and replacement projects. To 
efficiently execute an undefined quantity and undefined frequency of work, the District utilizes a 
contracting tool authorized by the State Legislature for use by water-sewer districts called a “Unit Price 
Contract” or “On- Call Contract.” During its regularly scheduled meeting held on October 12, 2022, the 
Board authorized the execution of a unit-price contract for miscellaneous sewer I&I repairs with Olson 

Page 5 of 46



Meeting Minutes January 11, 2023 P a g e  | 3 

Brother Pro-Vac, LLC (Pro-Vac). The 2023-24 budget includes $232,000 for Sewer System Rehab and 
Replacement Projects. 
 
In early January, staff were notified that Pro- Vac had availability open in its schedule for the week of 
January 9. To take advantage of this unanticipated availability and address a variety of sewer system 
issues that had been identified since the last set of repairs, the General Manager executed Order No. 1-
A for total work not to exceed $42,260 (plus Washington State sales tax) on January 6 pursuant to 
District Administrative Code Section 2.2.5. To fully take advantage of Pro-Vac’s availability and allow for 
timely reduction of I&I into the District’s sewer system, a second work order (No. 1-B) was developed for 
the Board’s approval. Discussion followed.  
 

Action Taken 
Carter moved, Knakal seconded, to confirm the General Manager’s execution of Work Order 
No. 1-A with Olson Brothers Pro-Vac, LLC under District Contact No. C2217 for $42,260.00 plus 
applicable Washington State sales tax and authorize the General Manager’s execution of 
Work Order No. 1-B under the same contract for $30,800.00 plus applicable Washington State 
sales tax. Motion passed. 

 
Other Business 
Commissioner Abele read into record her letter of resignation effective March 31, 2023. Discussion 
followed. 
 
Manager’s Report 
Clary updated the Board on several topics, including the upcoming exit meeting with the State Auditors 
Office, a recent collapsed sewer main and its repair, recent meetings with Sudden Valley Community 
Association and The Firs, and the upcoming Washington Association of Sewer and Water Districts annual 
Commissioner Workshop. 
 
Clary recognized the operations crew for their exemplary work around and during the Christmas holiday, 
when a freeze and silver thaw caused many frozen and burst pipes for District customers, requiring 
notifications, meter shutoffs, and increased production at the Sudden Valley Water Treatment Plant. 
Discussion followed. 
 
With no further business, Citron adjourned the Regular Session at 7:48 p.m. 
 
 
 
    ________    
Board President, Todd Citron    
   
 
Attest:              

 Recording Secretary, Rachael Hope       

 
 
Minutes approved by motion at  Regular  Special Board Meeting on ________________________ 
     Date Minutes Approved                 
  

Page 6 of 46



Meeting Minutes January 25, 2023 P a g e  | 1 

 

  
LAKE WHATCOM WATER AND SEWER DISTRICT 

1220 Lakeway Drive 
Bellingham, WA  98229 

 

 

REGULAR SESSION OF THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

Minutes 
 

January 25, 2023 
 

Board President Todd Citron called the Regular Session to order at 8:00 a.m.  
 
Attendees: Commissioner Laura Abele (v) General Manager Justin Clary 
 Commissioner Todd Citron (v) District Engineer/Assistant GM Bill Hunter 
 Commissioner Bruce Ford Finance Manager/Treasurer Jenny Signs 
 Commissioner John Carter Operations & Maintenance Manager Jason Dahlstrom 
 Commissioner Jeff Knakal Recording Secretary Rachael Hope 
  District Legal Counsel Bob Carmichael 
        
Roll Call 
General Manager Justin Clary performed a roll call. Also in attendance were Melanie Mankamyer of 
Wilson Engineering (v), Lance Stevens of Evergreen Engineers (v), and District Engineering 
Technician/Safety Officer Rich Munson (v). Attendees noted with (v) attended the meeting virtually. 
 
Consent Agenda 
 

Action Taken 
Abele moved, Ford seconded, to amend the presented consent agenda to exclude the Meeting 
Minutes for the January 11, 2023 regular meeting. Motion passed. 
 
Carter moved, Ford seconded, approval of: 

• Minutes for the 12.14.22 Regular Board Meeting 

• Payroll for Pay Period #02 (01.07.2022 through 01.20.23) totaling $46,238.09 

• Payroll Benefits for Pay Period #02 totaling $52,871.85 

• Accounts Payable Vouchers totaling $173,764.87 
Motion passed. 

 
Water Reservoir Coating Assessment Presentation 
Hunter gave a brief overview of the project, explaining that the District owns 6 welded-steel reservoirs, 
three of which are scheduled for seismic retrofits and coatings in 2029-2031 as part of the District’s 
System Reinvestment Plan. In 2022, the District contracted with Evergreen Coating Engineers, LLC, to 
perform coating assessments for the Division 22-1, Division 30, and Geneva reservoirs. The goal of these 
assessments was to develop and refine project scopes and budgets as part of the District’s ongoing 
system reinvestment and finance planning. Lance Stevens of Evergreen Coating Engineers provided a 
presentation summarizing testing and visual inspections conducted, findings, and recommendations. 
Discussion followed. 
 

Page 7 of 46



Meeting Minutes January 25, 2023 P a g e  | 2 

Voluntary Temporary Billing Suspension Policy 
Clary explained that District Administrative Code sections 2.10.5 and 2.10.6 define current policy 
regarding voluntary temporary suspension of water and sewer service billing, respectively. Historically, 
the District has provided a service to customers for voluntary temporary suspension of billing when that 
customer will be away from their home for an extended period. For many years this policy allowed for 
voluntary billing suspension for an indefinite period. 
 
Recognizing that indefinite billing suspensions burdened the remainder of the ratepayers with paying 
that connection’s proportionate share, the Board adopted Resolution No. in April 2021, capping the 
consecutive number of months a connection may be under voluntary temporary billing suspension at 
four. At that time, the Board requested staff bring this policy back for discussion two years following its 
implementation. Staff reported that 30 District customers used the voluntary billing suspension service 
in 2022 and provided comparison to District peers in Whatcom County. Discussion followed, in which 
the Board directed staff to bring forward at a future meeting an update to the District Administrative 
Code to rescind the voluntary temporary billing suspension policy. 
 
General Manager’s Report 
Clary updated the Board on several topics, including the upcoming exit interview with the State 
Auditor’s office, a recent meeting with management from the City of Bellingham’s Public Works 
Department, and changes to the Washington Association of Water and Sewer Districts L&I Retro 
program to increase its effectiveness and parity. Discussion followed. 
 
Engineering Department Report 
Hunter provided an update on district projects, including contracts for the Euclid Sewer Pump Station, 
progress on permitting and easements for the Division 7 Reservoir and Rocky Ridge & Lakewood Sewer 
Pump Station projects, and upcoming work on the Scenic Intertie leak repair project. Discussion 
followed. 
 
Finance Department Report 
Signs highlighted the 4th Quarter 2022 financial report included in the meeting packet, as well as 
touching on FEMA grant money received in 2022, monitoring of market factors in terms of inflation and 
investment portfolios, water and sewer revenues and expenditures, and the upcoming investment 
committee meeting. 
 
Operations & Maintenance Department Report 
Dahlstrom reported on field crew operations, including upcoming rescue and recovery training, the 
Camp Firwood water line auto-flusher project, and recent repairs within the District. 
 
With no further business, Citron adjourned the Regular Session at 10:13 a.m. 
 
 
    ________    
Board President, Todd Citron    
   
 
Attest:              

 Recording Secretary, Rachael Hope       

 
Minutes approved by motion at  Regular  Special Board Meeting on ________________________ 
     Date Minutes Approved                 
  

Page 8 of 46



Page 9 of 46



 

 Developer Extension Agreement  
 Application for Sudden Valley 

Community Association  
Culvert 315 

DATE SUBMITTED:  January 31, 2023 MEETING DATE: February 8, 2023 

TO: BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
FROM:  Bill Hunter, District Engineer / Assistant 
General Manager 

GENERAL MANAGER APPROVAL 
 

ATTACHED DOCUMENTS 
1. Application to Establish DEA from Sudden 

Valley Community Association 

TYPE OF ACTION REQUESTED 
RESOLUTION 

 
 

FORMAL ACTION/ 
MOTION 

 

INFORMATIONAL

/OTHER 
 

 

BACKGROUND / EXPLANATION OF IMPACT 
Sudden Valley Community Association (SVCA) is replacing an existing culvert near 225 Polo Park 
Drive (Sudden Valley Division 8 Lot 128) with a new box culvert (designated as Culvert C-315 by 
SVCA). The proposed culvert grade and alignment requires that the existing 8-inch diameter District 
water main be relocated below the new culvert and the existing 8-inch diameter District gravity 
sewer main be protected. 

SVCA submitted an application to establish a Developer Extension Agreement (DEA) with the 
District. The application was received on January 13, 2023, and the application fee was received on 
January 23, 2023. 

The subject property is in Sudden Valley Division 8 private roads. The culvert crosses Polo Park Drive 
just southwest of the intersection with Morning Glory Drive.  See vicinity map below. 

A DEA is a contract between the District and a developer or property owner to construct water 
and/or sewer facilities on property owned by the developer, and in roads, easements, or other 
rights of way described in an approved application.  Proposed facilities are constructed by the 
developer, and when complete, ownership is transferred to the District by a recorded Bill of Sale.  
The facilities are then owned, operated, and maintained by the District. 

The first step in the process is for the Board of Commissioners to evaluate whether to allow an 
extension and to determine any conditions of a contract. 

The proposed project: 

• Relocates the existing 8-inch diameter District water main deeper to run underneath the 
proposed culvert. 

• Installs a section of existing 8-inch diameter gravity sewer main inside a sleeve where it 
passes under the proposed culvert. 

• Does NOT add any new water or sewer connections. 

 

AGENDA 
BILL 

Item 6.A 

Page 10 of 46



Vicinity Map 

 

APPLICATION OF DISTRICT ADMINISTRATIVE CODE AND POLICIES 
District Administrative Code Section 3.4, Requirements for Water and Sewer Service, identifies 
connection requirements based on several parcel attributes, such as location (inside UGA or 
LAMIRD), proximity to water and/or sewer mains, and the type of proposed development.   

Because this project does not propose to add any new connections, and only relocates existing 
utilities out of the way of a proposed box culvert, evaluation of water/sewer connection 
requirements is not applicable. 

The District’s 2018 Water System Comprehensive Plan and the 2020 Comprehensive Sewer Plan do 
not identify any needed pipe capacity increases for this location to serve the full buildout condition. 

FISCAL IMPACT 
None anticipated. 

APPLICABLE EFFECTIVE UTILITY MANAGEMENT ATTRIBUTE(S) 
Infrastructure Strategy and Performance 

RECOMMENDED BOARD ACTION 
Authorize execution of a Developer Extension Agreement with Sudden Valley Community 
Association to reroute water and sewer mains that conflict with the proposed box Culvert 315 
alignment. The water and sewer mains should be installed in such a manner so they can be replaced 
or repaired without disrupting the new culvert. For example, one method is installing water and 
sewer mains inside sleeves where they cross under the new culvert, another method is within utility 
corridors. 

  

Page 11 of 46



PROPOSED MOTION 
Recommended motion is: 

“I move to authorize the General Manager to execute a Developer Extension Agreement with 
the Sudden Valley Community Association to reroute water and sewer mains that conflict with 
the proposed box Culvert 315 alignment with the following conditions: 

1. Water and sewer mains crossing under the culvert are installed to allow future 
replacement or repair of mains without disruption to the culvert, and 

2. No new water or sewer connections are included in the project.” 

Page 12 of 46



LAKE WHATCOM WATER & SEWER DISTRICT

Application Complete

APPLICATION TO ESTABLISH
DEVELOPER EXTENSION AGREEMENT (DEA)

1. Printed Name 2. Signature 3. Date Signed

JoAnneJensen

4. Address 5. Phone
. HorneT

4 Clubhouse Circle I
Bellingham, WA 98229 Work 360-734-6430

-

6. Attach Following Maps (11 x 17 or smaller):
El Assessor map with parcels highlighted (black and white copies oñ19 please)
l Proposed plat or lot layout with proposed water and/or sewer improvements. Show existing and

proposed utility easements and public right-of-ways
7. Project Name

Culvert C-315 Replacement

8. Site and Project Information
List of Parcel Numbers: Proposed Number of

Water Services:
370406 100152 Proposed Number of 0Sewer Services:

Current Zoning: Total Acres:

RR3 < 1 acre

Anticipated Start of Construction: Anticipated Construction Duration:

Summer 2023 2 months
Provide a brief narrative description of the proposed development and requested water and/or sewer
services. (If you require more space, please attach a separate sheet of paper):
Installation of box culvert. Work will require modifications to both water and sewer lines
in attached drawings.

To be comoleted by District

***SPECIAL NOTICES TO APPLICANT*

When you request to establish a DEA with the District, we will provide you with an Application and a
sample of a Developer Extension Agreement. The sample is provided to you for information and

_planning purposes only.

____________________--______

> Once the District approves your application, you will be asked to complete and submit the DEA. -

> Application processing steps are printed on the reverse of this form.

9.

> This Application, once accepted and approved by the District, does not constitute, nor does it imply, a
guarantee by the District to provide water or sewer service.

> This is NOT a “Will Serve” document.

I 10. ApplicatIon Fee Received
Yes No El I Yesl

13. General Manager Sicinature
No U

‘11. Recelpt# I 12. ReceIved by
22217 1/23/20231 T. Gilmore

14. Date SIgnedl

///27oZ3

Last revised 03/09/06 Page 1 of2

Page 13 of 46



Page 14 of 46



POLO PARK DRIVE

C

-

3

1

5

O

H

W

M

O
H

W

M

O

H

W

M

C

D

D

'

C

'

E

E
'

O

H

W

M

WATERMAIN STOVEPIPE DETAIL

NOT TO SCALE

KEY NOTES:

THRUST BLOCK NOTES:

BANK PLANTING SCHEDULE:

% COVER SPECIES SPACING QUANTITY

50% SITKA WILLOW Salix sitchensis LIVE STAKES 1FT O.C. 150 COUNT

50% SCOULER'S WILLOW Salix scouleriana LIVE STAKES 1FT O.C. 150 COUNT

100% STREAMBANK PLUS SEED MIX 1.5 LB / 1,000 SF 4.5 LBS

SUNMARK SEEDS INTERNATIONAL

IM D
E
S
IG

N
P
A
C
T

54
26
 BA
RR
ET
T R
OA
D, S
UIT
E A
103

36
0-3
89
-813
8 W

WW
.BO
LD
-IM
PA
CT
.CO
M

8

10.16.2020

P

R

E

L

I

M

I

N

A

R

Y

S
U

D
D

E
N

 
V

A
L

L
E

Y

C
U

L
V

E
R

T
 
R

E
P

L
A

C
E

M
E

N
T

S
 
2
0

2
0

C
U

L
V

E
R

T
 
3
1
5
 
S

I
T

E
 
P

L
A

N

W
H

A
T

C
O

M
 
C

O
U

N
T

Y
,
 
W

A
S

H
I
N

G
T

O
N

19031

KIB

SIG

4

CULVERT 315 SITE PLAN

SUDDEN VALLEY CULVERT REPLACEMENTS 2021

SUDDEN VALLEY, WASHINGTON

AREA MAP

PROJECT SITE

SCALE: 1" = 10'

10'

5'

0

10'

2
1

7

Page 15 of 46



 

 
Commissioner Protocol Manual 

Revision—Social Media Use 
Policy Addition 

DATE SUBMITTED:  February 1, 2022 MEETING DATE: February 8, 2023 

TO: BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS FROM:  Justin Clary, General Manager 

GENERAL MANAGER APPROVAL 
 

ATTACHED DOCUMENTS 
1. Draft Revision to the Commissioner Protocol 

Manual 

TYPE OF ACTION REQUESTED 
RESOLUTION 

 
 

FORMAL ACTION/ 
MOTION 

 

INFORMATIONAL

/OTHER 
 

 

BACKGROUND / EXPLANATION OF IMPACT 
Recognizing that social media tools such as Facebook, Nextdoor, and LinkedIn can improve 
interactivity between a government agency and the public, the Lake Whatcom Water and 
Sewer District (District) has steadily increased its use of these tools since it created its first 
social media accounts in 2019. Prior to creating its social media accounts, the District 
developed a social media program, which defines how District staff use social media in the 
effective and timely distribution of information to the public. 

At the request of Commissioner Ford, staff reviewed District policy relative to 
commissioner use of social media related to District business. Recognizing that the social 
media program is more applicable to staff than commissioners, the Commissioner Protocol 
Manual was reviewed. The Manual, however, is silent related specifically to commissioner 
use of social media (Section 4.01 does provide general requirements of communication 
from commissioners, which may be interpreted to include social media).  

The Board discussed the topic during its regularly scheduled meeting on January 11, 2023, 
during which it directed staff to draft a commissioner social media use policy for the 
Board’s considered inclusion in the Commissioner Protocol Manual. The attached, revised 
Commissioner Protocol Manual adds a subsection under 4.01, Communications from 
Commissioners, that is specific to personal social media use by commissioners, as well as 
updates Section 1.02(E) to reflect the relatively recent shift from annual to biennial 
budgeting. 

FISCAL IMPACT 
No fiscal impact is anticipated. 

APPLICABLE EFFECTIVE UTILITY MANAGEMENT ATTRIBUTE(S) 
Customer Satisfaction 
Stakeholder Understanding and Support 

AGENDA 
BILL 

Item 6.B 

Page 16 of 46



RECOMMENDED BOARD ACTION 
Staff recommends that the Board discuss the proposed addition to the Commissioner 
Protocol Manual and either adopt the proposed revision or stipulate any revisions to the 
document for future Board consideration. 

PROPOSED MOTION 
Should the Board wish to adopt the revision as prepared by staff, a recommended motion 
is: 

 “I move to adopt the revised Commissioner Protocol Manual, as presented.” 
 

 
 

Page 17 of 46



 

 

 

 COMMISSIONER PROTOCOL MANUAL 

LAKE WHATCOM WATER & SEWER DISTRICT 

 

 
  

Adopted September 14, 2011 

Revised January 11, 2012 

Revised April 10, 2019 

Revised June 29, 2022 

Revised February 8, 2023 

 

 

 

FOREWORD 

In the course of serving as a public official, there are a myriad of issues with which you will become 
involved. This protocol manual attempts to centralize information on common issues related to your 
role as a member of the Board of Commissioners. 

The issues that are addressed in this publication are often complex and subjective. This manual is 
intended to be a guide and is not a substitute for the counsel, guidance, or opinion of the District’s 
legal counsel. 

The Board of Commissioners has formally adopted the protocols included in this reference 
document. Provisions contained herein will be reviewed as needed. The Board, by majority vote, in 
its sole discretion, reserves the right to revise this protocol manual at any time, without notice. 

 

 

Page 18 of 46



 

COMMISSIONER PROTOCOL MANUAL PAGE 1 

LAKE WHATCOM WATER & SEWER DISTRICT 

Chapter 1—Introduction and Overview 

As a member of the Board of Commissioners (commissioner), you not only establish important and 
often critical policies for the Lake Whatcom Water and Sewer District (District), you are also a 
board member of a municipal corporation having an annual operating budget of several million 
dollars. The scope of services and issues that you will deal with as a commissioner will go beyond 
that which is reported publicly. Your service will likely have long term impact on the operations of 
the District for some time into the future. This document is intended to help you in understanding 
your role as a steward of the District and its resources. 

1.01 Purpose of the Protocol Manual  

The District has developed this protocol manual to assist the Board of Commissioners (Board) by 
documenting accepted practices and clarifying expectations. Administration of District affairs is 
greatly enhanced by the agreement of the Board and staff to be bound by these practices. While 
attempting not to be overly restrictive, procedures are established so that expectations and practices 
can be clearly articulated to guide commissioners in their actions. This protocol manual does not 
restrict or expand Board authority from the authority granted in state or local law or District 
resolution.  

1.02 Overview of Basic District Documents 

This protocol manual provides a summary of important aspects of Board activities. However, it 
cannot incorporate all material and information necessary for undertaking the business of the 
District. Many other laws, plans, and documents exist which bind the Board to certain courses of 
action and practices. The following is a summary of the most notable documents, which establish 
Board direction. 

A. Mission and Goals 
Our mission is to provide the best possible water and sewer services to District customers in a cost-
efficient manner, and in a way that contributes to protecting Lake Whatcom’s water quality. 

We strive: 

• To provide safe and reliable drinking water with sufficient capacity to meet fire flow 
requirements and sewage collection to District customers. 

• To establish connection charges and utility rates necessary to maintain the District’s financial 
viability. 

• To protect the natural resources within the Lake Whatcom watershed through cooperative 
efforts with other community and governmental organizations. 

• To be recognized as an outstanding public utility that is responsive to the diverse 
expectations of its customers. 

• To maintain the District’s facilities through effective planning, prevention, and corrective 
maintenance practices. 

• To provide sewer and water service to those portions of the District as may reasonably be 
served. 

• To have an organization environment that is responsive to customer needs, promotes 
teamwork and a safe work environment, and allows all people to achieve their full potential. 

Page 19 of 46



 

COMMISSIONER PROTOCOL MANUAL PAGE 2 

LAKE WHATCOM WATER & SEWER DISTRICT 

B. District Administrative Code 
The administrative code contains District regulations adopted by resolution. In addition to those 
administrative matters, the administrative code contains a variety of regulations including, but not 
limited to, health and safety issues and development-related standards. 

C. Personnel Policies Manual 
It is the policy of the District to uphold, promote, and demand the highest standards of ethics from 
all of its elected officials and staff. Accordingly, District employees are expected to maintain the 
utmost standards of personal integrity, truthfulness, honesty, and fairness in carrying out their public 
duties; avoid any improprieties in their roles as public servants; and never use their District position 
or powers for personal gain. The Personnel Policies Manual serves as an overall guideline for staff 
conduct. 

D. Revised Code of Washington 
Numerous state statutes and administrative regulations govern the operation of all local 
governments, including the District. The District is a special purpose district that is vested with the 
powers set forth in Title 57 Revised Code of Washington (RCW). 

E. BiennialAnnual Budget 
The biennialannual budget is the primary tool and road map for accomplishing the goals of the 
District. The budget document is the result of one of the most important processes the District 
undertakes. By adopting the annual budget, the Board makes policy decisions, sets priorities, 
allocates resources, and provides the framework for District operations. The District’s biennial fiscal 
periodfinancial year runs from January 1 of an odd-numbered year through December 31 of an 
even-numbered year. The budget should be prepared and adopted by no later than December 31 of 
the preceding yearin advance of the next biennium. 

F. Financial Reports 
Periodic financial reports include the financial condition of the District as reflected in the balance 
sheet, the results of operations as reflected in income statements, and related cash and investment 
reports. The annual financial report includes the financial statements of the District for a calendar 
year. It includes the financial condition of the District as reflected in the balance sheet, the results of 
operations as reflected in income statements and related footnotes. 

G. Comprehensive Plans 
Pursuant to Chapter 57.16 RCW, water and sewer comprehensive plans address the District’s long-
range planning needs relative to the operation and maintenance of water and sewer infrastructure of 
the District. Comprehensive plans are reviewed on an ongoing basis and revised as required by State 
law. 

H. Six-year Capital Improvement Plan 
The Six-year Capital Improvement Plan serves as a guide for determining priorities, planning, 
financing, and constructing capital projects which add to, support, or improve the physical 
infrastructure, capital assets, or productive capacity of the District. The Capital Improvement Plan 
also serves as the basis for the District’s long-range planning and comprehensive plans. 

1.03 Orientation of New Commissioners 

It is important for Commissioners to gain an understanding of the full range of services and 
programs provided by the District. As new members join the Board, the General Manager will host 
an orientation program that provides an opportunity for commissioners to tour District facilities and 

Page 20 of 46

https://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?Cite=57
https://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=57.16


 

COMMISSIONER PROTOCOL MANUAL PAGE 3 

LAKE WHATCOM WATER & SEWER DISTRICT 

meet with key staff within the first quarter of taking office. Training opportunities for new 
commissioners include the Washington Association of Water and Sewer Districts-sponsored annual 
Commissioner Workshop (typically offered each January) and Open Public Meetings Act training 
available online (see section 7.09.D). At any time, if there are facilities or programs about which you 
would like more information, arrangements will be made to increase your awareness of these 
operations and opportunities. 

Chapter 2—Board of Commissioners General Powers and Responsibilities 

2.01 Board of Commissioners 

Fundamentally, the powers of the Board are to be utilized for the good of the District’s ratepayers.  
The Board is the policy making body of the District. State law, in particular Title 57 RCW, and 
District resolutions establish the powers and responsibilities of the Board. 

It is important to note that the Board acts as a body. No member has any extraordinary powers 
beyond those of other members. When it comes to establishing policies, voting, and in other 
significant areas, all members are equal. It is also important to note that policy is established by a 
majority vote of the Board. While individual members may disagree with decisions of the majority, a 
decision of the majority binds the Board and District to a course of action. Commissioners must 
respect adopted Board policy. In turn, it is staff’s responsibility to ensure the policy of the Board is 
upheld and carried out. 

Actions of staff to pursue the policy direction established by a majority of the Board do not reflect 
any bias against commissioners who held a minority opinion on an issue. 

In order to uphold the integrity of the Board, and to provide proper checks and balances, 
commissioners must refrain from becoming directly involved in the administrative affairs of the 
District. As the Board is the policy making body and the adopter of resolutions, its involvement in 
the day-to-day operations of the District or the enforcement of resolutions through other than 
legislative means would only damage the credibility of the system. 

The Board and its members shall not give orders to any subordinate of the General Manager and 
will deal with the staff through the General Manager or their designee. While it may hold executive 
sessions to discuss and review certain personnel matters, the Board is not prohibited, during open 
session, from fully and freely discussing with the General Manager anything pertaining to 
appointments and removals of District employees. See also Chapter 5, below. 

2.02 Role of Commissioners 

Commissioners are collectively responsible for establishing policy, adopting an annual budget, and 
providing vision and goals to the General Manager. The following outline is a brief description of 
the various duties of commissioners. The description is not intended to be comprehensive, but 
rather it is an effort to summarize the primary responsibilities of the Board. 

Page 21 of 46

https://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?Cite=57


 

COMMISSIONER PROTOCOL MANUAL PAGE 4 

LAKE WHATCOM WATER & SEWER DISTRICT 

Summary of Board Duties and Responsibilities 
1. Establish Policy 

a) Adopt goals and objectives 
b) Establish priorities 
c) Approve/amend the operating and capital budgets 
d) Approve contracts 
e) Adopt resolutions 

2. Supervision of General Manager 
a) Appoint the General Manager 
b) Evaluate the performance of the General Manager 

3. Provide Public Leadership 
a) Promote representative governance 
b) Mediate conflicting interests while building a consensus 
c) Communicate the District’s vision and goals to ratepayers 
d) Represent the District’s interest at regional, county, state, and federal levels 

4. Decision-Making 
a) Study problems 
b) Review alternatives 
c) Determine best course of public policy 

2.03 Organization of the Board 

Each year at the first meeting in January, the Board shall select one commissioner to serve as the 
President of the Board and one commissioner to serve as Secretary of the Board. The President of 
the Board serves as the presiding officer and acts as chair at all meetings of the Board. The President 
of the Board may participate in all deliberations of the Board in the same manner as any other 
member and may vote unless a conflict of interest exists. The President of the Board does not 
possess any power of veto. The President of the Board may not move an action but may second a 
motion where it could affect the outcome of the proceedings. 

2.04 Absence of Commissioners 

In the absence of the President of the Board, the Secretary of the Board shall perform the duties of 
the President of the Board. If any commissioners are absent from the District for more than 15 
days, they shall notify the other commissioners and the General Manager. See also section 6.09, 
below. 

2.05 Resignation of a Commissioner 

If a commissioner resigns from the Board before their term of office is up, a new commissioner will 
be appointed to fill the vacated position as provided by Section 57.12.020 RCW, as amended. 

2.06 Emergency Response 

In the event of an emergency, the Board, under advisement of the General Manager and when 
practically possible, shall adopt a declaration of emergency by resolution. This allows staff to waive 
or bypass bidding requirements. An “emergency” occurs when the public health, safety, or welfare is 
being immediately affected. 

Page 22 of 46

https://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=57.12.020


 

COMMISSIONER PROTOCOL MANUAL PAGE 5 

LAKE WHATCOM WATER & SEWER DISTRICT 

2.07 Appointment of General Manager 

The Board is responsible for appointing one position within the District organization, which is the 
General Manager. The General Manager serves at the pleasure of the Board. The General Manager 
is responsible for all personnel within the District organization. 

Chapter 3—Financial Matters 

3.01 Board Compensation 

Commissioners are compensated per RCW 57.12.010 and Board compensation is either increased or 
decreased per that statute as amended. Compensation is given for each day or portion of a day spent 
in attendance at a Board meeting or in performance of other official duties. The maximum annual 
compensation for a commissioner shall be the maximum annual compensation allowed by state law. 
See Resolution No. 725.  

The Board, through the adoption of a resolution, may set the compensation below the level set by 
the state if desired. RCW 57.12.010 also permits individual commissioners to waive all or any 
portion of their compensation and provides a procedure for doing so. 

3.02 Financial Disclosure 

Pursuant to Chapter 42.17A RCW, candidates for the office of District Commissioner are required 
to file a financial disclosure statement with the State Public Disclosure Commission within two 
weeks of filing a nomination paper. When appointed to fill a vacancy on the Board, the appointee is 
required to file a financial disclosure statement with the Washington State Public Disclosure 
Commission, covering the preceding 12-month period, within two weeks of being so appointed. 
Current commissioners are required to file a financial disclosure statement with the State Public 
Disclosure Commission on an annual basis after January 1 and before April 15 of each year covering 
the previous calendar year. Current commissioners whose terms expire on December 31 shall file 
the statement for the year that ended on that December 31. Statements filed in any of the above 
cases will be available for public inspection.   

The filing of such disclosure statements is the responsibility of each individual commissioner, not 
the District. Failure to file a disclosure statement or filing incorrect information in the disclosure 
statement may result in a civil penalty or criminal prosecution. 

3.03 Travel Policy 

Commissioners are subject to the following travel policy: 

A. Approved Travel 
The General Manager must approval all travel expenditures a commissioner seeks to have 
reimbursed. The General Manager shall only authorize reimbursement of travel expenses for matters 
related directly to the commissioner’s official duties as a commissioner for the District. 

B. Travel Involving an Overnight Stay 
All reasonable transportation expenses for approved travel will be reimbursed. Any travel involving 
an overnight stay should have the prior approval of the General Manager. Commissioners should 
endeavor to attend training and conferences in the state whenever possible if such training or 
conference is of comparable value to that offered out of state. 

Page 23 of 46

https://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=57.12.010
https://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=57.12.010
https://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=42.17A


 

COMMISSIONER PROTOCOL MANUAL PAGE 6 

LAKE WHATCOM WATER & SEWER DISTRICT 

C. Reimbursement of Travel Expenses 
A fully itemized claim for expense reimbursement must be submitted to the General Manager, or 
their designee, within 15 calendar days of return from travel along with documentation of 
attendance in the form of a copy of the cover sheet of the program or agenda for the event 
attended. 

D. Individual Meals  
Reasonable costs of necessary meals while conducting District business are reimbursable. 

1. Detailed receipts must accompany all reimbursement claims. 

2. Reimbursement will not be paid for alcoholic beverages. 

3. Reimbursement will not be paid for expenses for spouses, guests, non-employees, or other 
persons not authorized to receive reimbursement under this policy or State regulations. 

4. One person may claim reimbursement for several employees or officials eating together, as 
long as all the names are listed on the reimbursement claim. 

5. All out of town lodging arrangements should be charged to the District credit card whenever 
possible. 

E. Use of Personal Vehicles 
Mileage for the use of personal vehicles will be reimbursed at the current IRS allowable mileage rate. 
Reimbursement shall only be made to the owner of the vehicle. 

F. Cancelation 
Commissioners shall adhere to cancelation deadlines when canceling training, conferences, and 
related travel. Except in the case of a personal or family emergency or in the event the cancelation 
was a District business decision, a commissioner may not be reimbursed for expenses relating to a 
training, conference, or other event they did not attend and shall reimburse the District for any pre-
paid expenses. 

Chapter 4—Communications 

4.01 Communication from Commissioners 

The President of the Board is generally responsible for communicating the Board’s position on 
policy matters to entities outside of the District on the Board’s behalf, provided that the Board may 
in its discretion direct that another commissioner handle communication on its behalf on particular 
a matter. The General Manager may assist the President of the Board, or such other commissioner 
as needed. The Board may also request the assistance of the District’s legal counsel in preparing such 
communication. 

On occasion, one or more commissioners may wish to correspond on an issue on which the Board 
has yet to take a position or, has no position. In these circumstances, commissioners should clearly 
indicate that they are not speaking for the Board as a whole, but for themselves as one member of 
the Board. 

District letterhead and staff support may not be used for personal or political purposes. 

A. Social Media Use 

The District maintains a social media program that is specific to the management of District social 
media accounts. This section defines District policy pertaining to commissioner use of personal 

Page 24 of 46



 

COMMISSIONER PROTOCOL MANUAL PAGE 7 

LAKE WHATCOM WATER & SEWER DISTRICT 

social media accounts relative to District business. An assigned District email address shall not be 
used when using social media (e.g., a personal Facebook account using a name@lwwsd.org email 
address shall not be created or used). 

1. District Social Media Accounts. In instances where the public may comment on a District-
specific social media account, commissioners shall refrain from providing a response via 
their personal account. The General Manager or a staff member designated by the general 
manager, in consultation with the board as appropriate, shall be responsible for providing 
the District response. 

2. Non-District Social Media Accounts. In instances where a commissioner wishes to respond 
to a post related to District business made by the public on a non-District social media 
account, the commissioner is encouraged to notify the General Manager prior to responding 
to confirm the accuracy of their response. The commissioner should also state in their 
response that their comments may not be representative of the District (e.g., While I am a 
commissioner of the Lake Whatcom Water and Sewer District, the following is my personal 
opinion and not necessarily the opinion or position of the Lake Whatcom Water and Sewer 
District government.) Additional considerations should include: 

- Public Record. It should be noted that there are situations in which use of a personal 
social media account may result in the creation of a public record subject to retention 
and disclosure laws under RCW 42.56 (see Section 4.02 below). 

- Open Public Meetings Act. Should multiple commissioners provide a response, this 
could result in a violation of the Open Public Meetings Act, RCW 42.30 (see Section 
4.02 below). 

4.02 State Public Records Act and Open Public Meetings Act 

To ensure that business communications submitted to and by commissioners comply with the State 
Public Records Act, RCW 42.56, and the State Open Public Meetings Act, RCW 42.30, the 
following is set forth: 

A. General Communications 
All writings including without limitation letters, memoranda, interactive computer communications, 
and phone text messages, involving commissioners, the subject of which relates to the conduct of 
the Board or the performance of any District function, with few exceptions as stated by the Public 
Records Act, are public records. Records stored on a personal computer or cell phone may also be 
public records subject to public disclosure. All requests for District records by the public should be 
directed to the General Manager, or their designee. 

B. Written Communications 
Written letters and memoranda received by the District and addressed to a commissioner or the 
Board as a body will be photocopied and provided to all commissioners. A copy shall be kept 
according to the District’s Records Retention Schedule. 

C. Electronic Communications 
Commissioners are strongly encouraged to use the District’s e-mail system and District-provided 
equipment when conducting District business. 

E-mail communications that are intended for review by all commissioners, whether concurrently or 
serially must be considered in light of the Open Public Meetings Act. If the intended purpose of the 

Page 25 of 46

https://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=42.56
https://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=42.30


 

COMMISSIONER PROTOCOL MANUAL PAGE 8 

LAKE WHATCOM WATER & SEWER DISTRICT 

e-mail is to have a discussion that should be held at an open meeting, the electronic discussion 
should not occur. The use of e-mail communication to form a collective decision of the Board is 
inappropriate and could be a violation of the Open Public Meetings Act. 

E-mail should be used cautiously when seeking legal advice or to discuss matters of pending 
litigation or other “confidential” District business. In general, e-mail is discoverable in litigation, and 
even deleted e-mail is not necessarily removed from the system. Confidential e-mail communications 
should not be shared with individuals other than the intended recipients, or the attorney-client 
privilege protecting the document from disclosure may be waived. 

E-mail between commissioners, and between commissioners and staff shall not be transmitted to 
the public or news media without the filing of a public disclosure request with the General Manager. 

No e-mail address with the District’s website, lwwsd.org, as the domain may be used for personal 
use. 

All of the foregoing information applicable to e-mails is also applicable to text messages sent by cell 
phone. 

4.03 Electronic Devices 

To enhance commissioners’ service to the ratepayers and their ability to communicate with staff and 
the public, the District provides electronic devices, such as tablets, for official District business. The 
District information technology service provider will ensure that all appropriate 
software/applications are installed and up to date and will provide an orientation in the use of the 
device and related software/applications. Commissioners shall not install additional software on 
their District-issued devices. Should a commissioner desire a particular software program or 
application, the Commissioner shall request that the General Manager as the District’s information 
technology service provider to install it if appropriate. 

Commissioners must adhere to all policies under the District’s security policies. 

Virus protection software and other security protocols must never be disabled or weakened at any 
time for any reason. 

Personal media and programs may not be stored on District-owned devices. Non-District-issued 
programs or media found during audits will be removed.  

When individual commissioners have completed their term of office, District-owned equipment will 
be returned upon leaving office. 

District-owned equipment is subject to audit at any time. A violation of the policies described in this 
chapter or in the District’s security policies may result in the District confiscating the device. 

Chapter 5—Conflicts of Interest, Appearance of Fairness Doctrine, and Liability of 

Elected Officials 

5.01 Conflicts of Interest 

The conflict of interest law is one of the most complicated laws on the books. To understand its 
effect on a commissioner’s actions, it is suggested that members discuss the law and potential 
conflicts with a private attorney or the District’s legal counsel. It is imperative that commissioners 
identify in advance their conflicts and potential conflicts. 

Page 26 of 46



 

COMMISSIONER PROTOCOL MANUAL PAGE 9 

LAKE WHATCOM WATER & SEWER DISTRICT 

It is illegal to fail to declare a conflict of interest, or to participate or otherwise be involved in 
discussions on issues or contracts where such an interest exists. Violations of the conflict of interest 
law may result in significant penalties, including criminal prosecution and forfeiture of office. 

In circumstances where only a “remote interest” (see below) exists, after disclosure of the interest to 
other commissioners and in the meeting minutes, the Board may approve the contract to which a 
commissioner has a remote interest, absent participation in the deliberation and voting process by 
the commissioner with the remote interest, but only if the commissioner refrains from any attempt 
to influence other members to approve the contract. 

A. Applicability 
All District officers, elected and appointed, are subject to the conflict of interest law in Chapter 
42.23 RCW.   

B. Remote Interests 
Remote Interests are so minor that they do not constitute illegal conflicts of interest. Remote interests 
exist when a District official is: 

• A non-salaried officer or member of a nonprofit corporation doing business or requesting 
money from the District. Therefore, being such an officer or member would not constitute a 
conflict. 

• An employee or agent of a contracting party, where the compensation of such employee or 
agent consists entirely of fixed wages or salary (e.g., the commissioner does not receive 
commissions or a year-end bonus). 

• The landlord or tenant of a contracting party. For instance, a commissioner may lease office 
space to a party that has a private interest in a public matter without it resulting in a conflict 
of interest. 

• The owner of less than one percent of the shares of corporation or a cooperative doing 
business with the District. 

• Being reimbursed only for actual and necessary expenses incurred in performance of official 
duties. 

C. Acts Not Constituting a Conflict of Interest 

• Receiving District services on the same terms and conditions as if not a District official. 
Thus, when a commissioner who owns a business within the District votes for or against an 
increase in the District’s general permit fees or user rates, a conflict would not exist because 
this action would apply to all businesses within the District’s boundaries. 

• An officer or employee of another political subdivision or public agency unless it is the same 
governmental entity being served who is voting on a contract or decision which would not 
confer a direct economic benefit or detriment upon the officer. For example, a 
commissioner who is a schoolteacher may vote to enter into an intergovernmental 
agreement with the school district, unless such agreement would confer some direct 
economic benefit, such as a salary or benefit increase, upon the commissioner. 

• A member of a trade, business, occupation, profession, or class of persons and has no 
greater interest than the other members of that trade, business, occupation, or class of 
persons. A class must consist of at least ten members to qualify the interest as remote. 

Page 27 of 46

https://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=42.23
https://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=42.23


 

COMMISSIONER PROTOCOL MANUAL PAGE 10 

LAKE WHATCOM WATER & SEWER DISTRICT 

D. Declaration of a Conflict 
When a conflict of interest exists, a District official must declare that a conflict of interest exists and 
make it known in the official records of the District and refrain from voting or in any way 
influencing a decision of the Board. Should a situation arise wherein a majority of the Board or a 
majority of a quorum of those present at a Board meeting have a conflict of interest, state law 
provides that if the conflict of interest statutes prevent the Board from acting as required by law in 
its official capacity, such action shall be allowed if the commissioners with the apparent conflicts of 
interest make them known. 

E. District Legal Counsel Opinions 
A commissioner’s request for an opinion from the District’s legal counsel concerning conflict of 
interest is confidential. However, formal final legal opinions on conflicts of interest may be a matter 
of public record and must be filed with the General Manager. This filing requirement does not apply 
to verbal communications between commissioners and the District’s legal counsel. 

Commissioners may seek advice from a private attorney, at their own expense, concerning potential 
conflicts. In such cases, no disclosure policy would apply. 

F. Filing of Disclosures 
The General Manager maintains a special file for all disclosures and legal opinions of conflicts of 
interest. 

G. Prohibited Acts (RCW 42.23.070) 

• No commissioner may use their position to secure special privileges or exemptions for 
themself or others. 

• No commissioner may, directly or indirectly, give or receive or agree to receive any 
compensation, gift, reward, or gratuity from a source except the employing municipality, for 
a matter connected with or related to the officer’s services as such an officer unless 
otherwise provided for by law. 

• No commissioner may accept employment or engage in business or professional activity that 
the commissioner might reasonably expect would require or induce them by reason of their 
official position to disclose confidential information acquired by reason of their official 
position. 

• No commissioner may disclose confidential information gained by reason of the 
commissioner’s position, nor may the commissioner otherwise use such information for 
their personal gain or benefit. 

H. Appearance of Fairness Doctrine 
The appearance of fairness doctrine is set forth in Chapter 42.36 RCW and the common law of the 
State of Washington. To satisfy the appearance of fairness doctrine, the District proceeding or 
hearing must appear fair and impartial for all parties to a “reasonably prudent and disinterested 
observer.” The appearance of fairness doctrine applies to quasi-judicial actions only. 

A quasi-judicial matter is one in which the Board determines the legal rights, duties, or privileges of a 
specific party or parties in a hearing or contested case proceeding. Examples include a public hearing 
on the special benefit provided to property by a utility local improvement district (ULID), an appeal 
of a decision by the General Manager regarding “denial” of service, or a ratepayer request to the 
Board for a billing adjustment. The appearance of fairness doctrine does not apply to legislative 

Page 28 of 46

https://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=42.23.070
https://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=42.36


 

COMMISSIONER PROTOCOL MANUAL PAGE 11 

LAKE WHATCOM WATER & SEWER DISTRICT 

matters, which would include actions like comprehensive water or sewer plan updates, 
administrative code amendments, or budgetary decisions. 

Quasi-judicial proceedings must be conducted so as to give the appearance of fairness and 
impartiality by decision makers. A violation of the appearance of fairness doctrine may result in the 
hearing and decision being found void. Ex parte communications are prohibited in quasi-judicial 
proceedings. An ex parte communication occurs when one party to the hearing or contested case, or 
a supporter thereof, communicates with one or more commissioners about the case outside of the 
hearing. If an ex parte communication between a commissioner and a party to the contested case 
occurs outside the hearing, the commissioner must excuse themself unless said member: 

1. Places on the record the substance of any written or oral ex parte communications 
concerning the decision to be made; and 

2. Makes a public announcement of the content of the ex parte communication and provides 
for the parties’ right to rebut the substance of the ex parte communication at each hearing 
where action is considered or taken on the subject to which the communication is related. 

RCW 42.36.060. If the above steps are taken, the commissioner may continue to hear the quasi-
judicial matter.  

In the event of a challenge to a commissioner which would cause a lack of a quorum or would result 
in a failure to obtain a majority vote as required by law, any such challenged commissioner shall be 
permitted to fully participate in the proceeding and vote as though the challenge had not occurred, if 
the member or members publicly disclose the basis for disqualification prior to rendering a decision. 

5.02 Liability 

The District must always approach its responsibilities in a manner that reduces risk to all involved, 
but risk cannot be eliminated. The District participates in the Water and Sewer Risk Management 
Pool to help manage risk.  

It is important to note that violations of certain laws and regulations by individual commissioners 
may result in the member being personally liable for damages which would not be covered by the 
District’s insurance. Examples may include intentional acts, discrimination, harassment, fraud, or 
criminal activity. 

Chapter 6—Interaction with District Staff/Officials 

6.01 Overview 

Board policy is implemented by dedicated and professional staff. It is critical that the relationship 
between the Board and staff be well understood by all parties so policies and programs may be 
implemented successfully. To support effective relationships, it is important that roles are clearly 
recognized. 

6.02 General Manager 

The Board’s role is to establish District policies and priorities. The Board appoints a General 
Manager to implement those policies and undertake the administration of the organization. 

The General Manager is appointed by the Board to enforce its resolutions and regulations, to direct 
the daily operations of the District, to prepare and monitor the budget, and to implement the 

Page 29 of 46

https://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=42.36.060


 

COMMISSIONER PROTOCOL MANUAL PAGE 12 

LAKE WHATCOM WATER & SEWER DISTRICT 

policies and programs initiated by the Board. The General Manager is responsible to the Board, 
rather than to individual commissioners, and directs and coordinates the various departments. The 
General Manager is responsible for appointing all department managers and authorizing the 
appointment of all other personnel positions. The Board authorizes positions through the budget 
process; based upon that authorization, the General Manager makes the appointments. The powers 
and duties of the General Manager include but are not limited to the following: 

• General supervision over the administrative affairs of the District 

• Appoint and remove at any time all department managers and employees 

• Attend all meetings of the Board at which the Manager’s attendance may be required by that 
body 

• See that all regulations and resolutions are faithfully executed, subject to the authority 
granted by the Board  

• Recommend for adoption by the Board such measures as the Manager may deem necessary 
or expedient 

• Prepare and submit to the Board such reports as may be required by that body, or as deemed 
advisable to submit 

• Keep the Board fully advised of the financial condition of the District and its future needs 

• Prepare and submit to the Board a proposed budget for the fiscal year, and to be responsible 
for its administration upon adoption 

• Perform such other duties as the Board may determine by motion or resolution 

• Implement and administer Board policies 

• Represent the District when dealing with other public or private agencies 

• Other such duties as described in the General Manager’s position description 

6.03 Board Non-interference 

The Board is to work through the General Manager when dealing with the administrative staff of the 
District. 

In no manner, either directly or indirectly, should a commissioner become involved in, or attempt to 
influence, personnel matters that are under the direction of the General Manager. Nor shall the 
Board be involved in, or influence, the purchase of any supplies beyond the requirements of the 
District procurement procedures. 

Except for the purposes of inquiry, the Board and its members should deal with the staff through 
the General Manager or designee and should not give orders to any subordinate of the General 
Manager. Subject to RCW 42.30.110 and RCW 42.30.140, the Board may, while in open session, 
fully and freely discuss with the General Manager anything pertaining to appointments and removals 
of District employees and any other District affairs.   

 

Page 30 of 46

https://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=42.30.110
https://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=42.30.140


 

COMMISSIONER PROTOCOL MANUAL PAGE 13 

LAKE WHATCOM WATER & SEWER DISTRICT 

6.04 Board/General Manager Relationship 

The employment relationship between the Board and the General Manager honors the fact that the 
General Manager is the chief executive of the District. All dealings with the General Manager, 
whether in public or private, should respect the authority of the General Manager in administrative 
matters. Disagreements should be expressed in policy terms, rather than in terms that question 
satisfaction with or support of the General Manager. 

The General Manager respects and is sensitive to the policy responsibilities of the Board and 
acknowledges that the final responsibility for establishing the policy direction of the District is held 
by the Board. 

The Board is to evaluate the General Manager on an annual basis to ensure that both the Board and 
the General Manager are in agreement about performance and goals based upon mutual trust and 
common objectives. The General Manager’s performance is evaluated in the following areas: 
leadership, teamwork, job knowledge, attitude, accountability, empowerment, communication, 
problem-solving skills, quality of service, safety/risk taking, and implementation and administration 
of adopted Board policy. 

6.05 Board/Staff Relationship 

Commissioner contact with District staff members, inclusive of the General Manager, will be during 
regular business hours, except in the case of an emergency. 

6.06 Board/District Legal Counsel Relationship 

The Board should make provision for obtaining legal counsel for the District through a reasonable 
contractual arrangement for such professional services. The District legal counsel is an independent 
contractor retained by the Board. The Board may request the assistance and recommendations of 
the General Manager in the selection or retention of District legal counsel. The District’s legal 
counsel is the legal advisor for the Board, the General Manager, and all District employees with 
respect to any legal question involving an official duty or any legal matter pertaining to the affairs of 
the District. The general legal responsibilities of the District legal counsel are to: 

1. Provide legal assistance necessary for formulation and implementation of policies and 
projects; 

2. Provide general advice and counsel on matters of District business upon request; 

3. Represent the District’s interest, as determined by the Board, in litigation, administrative 
hearings, negotiations, and similar proceedings; 

4. Prepare or approve as to form resolutions, regulations, contracts, and other legal documents 
to best reflect and implement the purposes and intentions of the Board; and 

5. Keep the Board and staff apprised of court rulings and legislation affecting the legal interests 
of the District. 

It is important to note that the District legal counsel does not represent individual members of the 
Board, but rather the Board and the District as a whole. 

Page 31 of 46



 

COMMISSIONER PROTOCOL MANUAL PAGE 14 

LAKE WHATCOM WATER & SEWER DISTRICT 

6.07 Roles and Information Flow 

A. Board of Commissioners Roles 
The full Board retains the authority to accept, reject, or amend the staff recommendation on policy 
matters. 

Commissioners must avoid intrusion into those areas that are the responsibility of the staff. 
Individual commissioners may not intervene in staff decision-making, the development of staff 
recommendations, scheduling of work, and executing department priorities without the prior 
knowledge and approval of the Board as a whole. This is necessary to protect staff from undue 
influence and pressure from individual commissioners, and to allow staff to execute priorities given 
by management and the Board as a whole without fear of reprisal. If a commissioner wishes to 
influence the actions, decisions, recommendations, workloads, work schedule, or priorities of staff, 
that member must prevail upon the Board to do so as a matter of Board policy. 

B. Access to Information 
The General Manager is the information liaison between the Board and District staff. Requests for 
information from commissioners shall be directed to the General Manager or designee and will be 
responded to promptly. The information requested will be copied to all members of the Board so 
that each member may be equally informed. The sharing of information with the Board is one of the 
General Manager’s highest priorities. A variety of methods are used to share information with the 
Board. E-mail is often an effective and appropriate method for disseminating information. Work 
sessions are held to provide detailed presentations of matters, while retreats serve to focus on topics 
and enhance information exchange. The General Manager’s open-door policy allows individual 
commissioners to meet with the General Manager on an impromptu or one-on-one basis. 

There are limited restrictions when information cannot be provided. The District is legally bound 
not to release certain confidential personnel information. 

C. Staff Roles 
The Board recognizes the primary functions of staff as executing Board policy and actions taken by 
the Board and in keeping the Board informed. Staff is obligated to take guidance and direction only 
from the General Manager or their direct supervisor. This direction follows the policy guidance of 
the Board as a whole. Staff is directed to reject any attempts of individual commissioners to unduly 
direct or otherwise pressure them into making, changing, or otherwise influencing 
recommendations. 

District staff will make every effort to respond in a timely and professional manner to all requests 
for information or assistance made by individual commissioners through the General Manager or 
designee. The General Manager reserves the right to determine that the request for information 
would be more appropriately assigned to staff through the direction of the full Board due to the 
request’s magnitude either in terms of workload or policy. 

6.08 Restrictions on the Political Involvement of Staff 

The District is a nonpartisan local government. Professional staff formulates recommendations in 
compliance with Board policy for the good of the District, not influenced by political factors. For 
this reason, it is very important to understand the restrictions of the political involvement of staff. 

Page 32 of 46



 

COMMISSIONER PROTOCOL MANUAL PAGE 15 

LAKE WHATCOM WATER & SEWER DISTRICT 

By working for the District, staff members do not surrender rights to be involved in political 
activities. Employees may publicly express their personal opinions. They may register to vote, belong 
to a political party, sign nominating or recall petitions and vote in any election. 

6.09 Board Attendance Policy 

A Board position shall become vacant if the commissioner fails to attend three consecutive meetings 
of the Board without being excused by the Board. An absent commissioner who has called the 
General Manager’s office a minimum of one hour prior to the start of the meeting to advise of such 
absence will be deemed excused unless a majority of the Board determines otherwise. 

Chapter 7—Board Meetings 

The Board’s collective policy and regulatory powers are put into action during Board meetings. It is 
here that the Board conducts its business. The opportunity for ratepayers to be heard, the availability 
of commissioners to District ratepayers, and the openness of Board meetings all lend themselves to 
the essential democratic nature of local government. 

7.01 Meeting Schedule 

Regular meetings are held on the second Wednesday of each month at 6:30 p.m. and the last 
Wednesday of the month at 8:00 a.m. at the District office, 1220 Lakeway Drive, Bellingham, 
Washington. The Board meeting agenda typically provides time during the meeting for public 
comment. Audience participation is allowed at other times if permitted by the consent of a majority 
of the Board present. 

7.02 Public Notice of Hearings 

Except where a specific means of notifying the public of a public hearing is otherwise provided by 
law, notice of upcoming public hearings before the Board shall be sent to local media containing the 
time, place, date, and subject in the District’s official newspaper of record at least 24 hours before 
the date set for the hearing. 

7.03 Special Meetings 

Special meetings may be called by either the President of the Board or at the written request of a 
majority of the Board. Notice of a special meeting will be sent to local media that has made a written 
request to the District for such special meeting notices, and such notice shall be posted on the 
District office front door and on the District’s website at least 24 hours before the time of such 
meetings as specified in the notice. The notice shall specify the time and place of the special meeting 
and the business to be transacted. At special meetings, only those matters noted upon the agenda 
may be discussed or acted upon. 

Pursuant to RCW 42.30.080(4), the notices provided in this section may be dispensed with in the 
event a special meeting is called to deal with an emergency involving injury or damage to persons or 
property or the likelihood of such injury or damage, when time requirements of such notice would 
make notice impractical, and increase the likelihood of such injury or damage. 

7.04 Work Sessions 

Following proper public notice, the Board may meet informally in a work session. The work session 
is the forum used by the Board to review forthcoming programs of the District, to receive progress 

Page 33 of 46

https://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=42.30.080


 

COMMISSIONER PROTOCOL MANUAL PAGE 16 

LAKE WHATCOM WATER & SEWER DISTRICT 

reports on current issues, or to receive similar information from the General Manager and others. 
All discussions and conclusions held during a work session are of an informal nature. No final action 
is taken while in a work session. However, work sessions are open public meetings which must be 
held in compliance with the Open Public Meetings Act. 

7.05 The Agenda 

A. Agenda Online 
Pursuant to RCW 42.30.077, the agenda for each regular meeting of the Board will be posted on the 
District’s website at least twenty-four hours in advance of the published start time of the meeting. 

B. Agenda Planning 
All matters to be presented to the Board at its regular meetings are reviewed and placed on the 
agenda by the General Manager. 

C. Board 
A commissioner may request an item be considered for an upcoming agenda by making an oral 
request at a Board meeting or submitting a request to the General Manager. Based upon the nature 
of the request, the General Manager may at their discretion submit the request to the Board before 
placing it on the agenda. The majority of the Board may direct the General Manager to formally 
include or exclude the item from the agenda of an upcoming meeting. 

D. Members of the Public 
Public comments are a separate agenda item and are invited at that point in time on the Board 
meeting agenda. Public comment is appropriate on any matter within the jurisdiction of the Board. 
Comment shall be limited to three minutes per individual, with each public comment period per 
agenda item not exceeding 45 minutes in duration. Members of the public wishing to address the 
Board are encouraged, but not required, to provide their name and address prior to providing 
comment.  

A member of the public may request an item be placed on a future agenda while addressing the 
Board during a regular meeting and/or by submitting a request in writing to the Board, through the 
General Manager’s office. In order to allow sufficient time for the Board to review and staff to 
research the matter, the request should be submitted at least ten (10) working days prior to the 
meeting for which the item is requested to be placed on the agenda. Once the issue has been placed 
on the agenda, the General Manager will notify the requester so that they may plan to attend the 
meeting. 

E. Emergency Items 
Emergency items may be added to an agenda in accordance with state law. Emergency items are 
only those matters immediately affecting the public health, safety and welfare of the District. The 
reason(s) for adding an emergency item to the agenda shall be announced publicly at the meeting, 
and the issue shall be included in the minutes of the meeting. 

7.06 Audio Recording of Meetings 

The General Manager, or designee, shall make and keep digital recordings of all regular and special 
meetings of the Board, except those meetings or portions of meetings conducted in Executive 
Session. Recordings and related records of all Board meetings, except as referenced above, shall be 
retained by the District in accordance with the State of Washington Records Retention Schedule. 

Page 34 of 46

https://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=42.30.077


 

COMMISSIONER PROTOCOL MANUAL PAGE 17 

LAKE WHATCOM WATER & SEWER DISTRICT 

7.07 Executive Session 

At the call of the presiding officer, or with a majority vote, the Board may recess to Executive 
Session to privately discuss and consider matters authorized under RCW 42.30.110 and RCW 
42.30.140, as amended, or other applicable state law. 

Before convening in Executive Session, the presiding officer shall publicly announce the lawful 
purpose for excluding the public from the meeting place, and the time when the Executive Session 
will be concluded, and whether action is expected to be taken following the executive session. An 
Executive Session may be extended to a stated later time by announcement of the presiding officer. 

7.08 General Procedures 

A. Signing of Documents 
The Board President shall sign resolutions, contracts and other documents that have been adopted 
by the Board and require an official signature; except when the General Manager has been 
authorized by the Board to sign documents. 

B. Quorum 
A majority of the Board shall constitute a quorum and are necessary for the transaction of District 
business. 

C. Minutes 
The Board Secretary or designee shall take minutes at all regular and special Board meetings; such 
minutes shall be made available for public inspection once approved by Board action. Minutes shall 
be retained by the District in accordance with the State of Washington records retention schedule. 

Unless a member of the Board requests a reading of the minutes of a Board meeting, such minutes 
may be approved without reading, if each commissioner is furnished with a copy thereof. 

7.09 Open Meeting Law 

A. Applicability 
The open public meeting law, Chapter 42.30 RCW, applies to the Board, all quasi-judicial bodies, 
and all standing, special or advisory boards, committees or subcommittees of, or appointed by, the 
Board. 

B. Meetings 
All meetings of the Board shall be open to the public, except in the special instances as provided in 
RCW 42.30.110 and RCW 42.30.140, as hereafter amended. A meeting takes place when a quorum 
(a majority of the total number of commissioners) is present (whether physically or via phone/video 
technology) and information concerning District business is received, discussed, and/or acted upon. 

C. Actions 
Only the Board has the authority to take action, and said action must be taken in an open public 
meeting. No vote or action of the Board may take place while in executive session. At a Special 
Meeting, action can be taken only on those items appearing on the posted agenda, except for 
emergency items as defined in Section 7.05. At a Regular Meeting of the Board, the Board is free to 
take action on non-agenda items as “Other Business.” 

D. Training 
All commissioners are required by state law (Open Government Trainings Act) to complete an 
approved training course on the Open Public Meetings Act and must receive “refresher” training 

Page 35 of 46

https://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=42.30.110
https://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=42.30.140
https://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=42.30.140
https://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=42.30
https://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=42.30.110
https://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=42.30.140


 

COMMISSIONER PROTOCOL MANUAL PAGE 18 

LAKE WHATCOM WATER & SEWER DISTRICT 

thereon not less than once every four (4) years. Commissioners should provide documentation of 
completion of such trainings from forms available online, or by other means, to the General 
Manager to keep on file at the District office. More information on training requirements, on online 
resources, and an online training course, is available on the website of the Washington State 
Attorney General (http://www.atg.wa.gov/opengovernmenttraining.aspx). 

7.10 Attendance via Available Phone or Video Technology 

From time to time, a commissioner will not be able to be physically present at a Board meeting but 
will want to be involved in the discussion and/or decision on a particular agenda item. The 
procedure and guidelines for permitting a commissioner to attend a Board meeting remotely via 
available phone or video technology are as follows: 

A. Remote Attendance1 
Any or all commissioners may attend a meeting of the Board remotely via phone or video 
technology. Regardless of commissioner attendance status (virtual or in-person), the meeting shall 
also be held at the physical location specified in Section 7.01 so that the public may observe and 
participate in the meeting. Said physical meeting location is required, unless operating under an 
emergency declaration, in which case the meeting may be held fully remotely.  

B. Notification 
If a commissioner wishes to attend a Board meeting via available phone or video technology, the 
commissioner should notify the General Manager or their designee as soon as possible prior to the 
Board meeting for which they wish to attend remotely.  

Attendance via the technology used will be reflected in the minutes. Commissioners attending a 
Board meeting remotely will be eligible for compensation consistent with those that attended the 
meeting in person, as defined in Section 3.01 of this Manual. 

 
1 This section has been updated to reflect revision to Chapter 42.30 RCW, as amended by ESHB 1329 adopted 

during the 2022 session of the Washington State Legislature. 

Page 36 of 46

http://www.atg.wa.gov/opengovernmenttraining.aspx


 

COMMISSIONER PROTOCOL MANUAL PAGE 19 

LAKE WHATCOM WATER & SEWER DISTRICT 

Commissioner Protocol Manual 

List of Revisions 
 

Effective Date Section Revised Revision 

January 11, 2012 Section 3.01 
Board Compensation 

Added verbiage from Resolution 725 for clarification. 

April 10, 2019 Entire Document Comprehensive review/revision 

June 29, 2022 
 

Entire Document Clerical revisions throughout with significant revision 
to Section 7.10 (Attendance via Available Phone or 
Video Technology) to incorporate recent statutory 
revisions to the Open Public Meetings Act. 

February 8, 2023 Sections 1.02(E) and 
4.01(A) 

Revise to reflect biennial budget process and add 
commissioner social media use policy 

 
 

  

 
 

  

 
 

  

 
 

  

 
 

  

 
 

  

 
 

  

 
 

  

 
 

  

 
 

  

 
 

  

 
 

  

 
 

  

 
 

  

 
 

  
 

 

 

Page 37 of 46



 

  

Capital Surplus Policy 
Creation Discussion 

DATE SUBMITTED:  February 2, 2023 MEETING DATE: February 8, 2023 

TO: BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS FROM: Jenny Signs, Finance Manager/Treasurer 

GENERAL MANAGER APPROVAL 
 

ATTACHED DOCUMENTS  
 

none 

TYPE OF ACTION REQUESTED 
RESOLUTION 

 
 

FORMAL ACTION/ 
MOTION 

 

INFORMATIONAL

/OTHER 
 

 
BACKGROUND / EXPLANATION OF IMPACT 
On February 17, 2022, FCS Group submitted to the Board of Commissioners a 
comprehensive study of rates for the water and sewer utilities.  The main goal of the rate 
study was to develop a funding plan (revenue requirement) for the District’s water and 
sewer utilities for the 2021-2040 study period with a shorter rate setting period to cover 
years 2022-2026.  Within the study, FCS Group identified two specific large capital projects 
in each utility that would have a significant impact on required revenue.  These projects 
include Sudden Valley Water Treatment Plant improvements in the Water Fund and the 
Post Point Resource Recovery Project within the Sewer Fund.  Along with identifying these 
large projects as part of the capital improvement plan, FCS Group also recommended the 
creation of a capital surplus from the proposed rate increases to limit debt financing when 
the projects were completed.  This surplus will gradually increase as revenues increase with 
rate increases and then be utilized in the appropriate year for large capital projects. 

During the January 25, 2023, Investment Committee meeting, staff and commissioners had 
a lengthy discussion on how the District should move forward in not only identifying these 
funds within the adopted budget document but also be identified within the District’s 
Administrative Code to ensure that these funds are used in the way they were planned for.  
The Investment Committee looked into our options in terms of identifying these funds 
within our reserve policy.  However, to accommodate this but maintain flexibility, staff has 
identified a section within the Administrative Code that would be more appropriate to 
identify these funds but still maintain some flexibility.   

Section 2.3 of the Administrative Code defines the District’s Capital Improvement Policy.  
The District has established this policy with the primary focus of the preservation, 
maintenance, and future improvements of the District’s capital facilities, equipment, and 
assets.  Specifically, paragraph 15 reads: 

AGENDA 
BILL 

Item 6.C 

Page 38 of 46



In conjunction with establishing or planning its capital program, the District maintains 
a six-year capital financing plan that supports execution of that program and is 
capable of sustaining long-term District capital requirements. The capital program 
incorporates system expansion, upgrades and improvements, and system repair and 
replacement. The intention is to establish an integrated capital funding strategy. 

To integrate the capital surplus policy while still maintaining some financial management 
flexibility for the Board, staff proposes adding the following sentence to the end of the 
above section: 

In anticipation of large capital projects, a capital surplus may be accumulated in 
advance to limit debt financing.  Large capital projects shall be projects that are 
identified in a District rate study. 

In conjunction with this proposed Administrative Code revision, the adopted budget will 
continue to track this surplus within each utility operating fund. 

FISCAL IMPACT 
None anticipated. 

APPLICABLE EFFECTIVE UTILITY MANAGEMENT ATTRIBUTE(S) 
Financial Viability 
 
RECOMMENDED BOARD ACTION 
Staff recommends that the Board discuss the proposed Administrative Code revision. 

PROPOSED MOTION 
Not applicable. 

Page 39 of 46



 

 
Review of District 

Compensation Philosophy 

DATE SUBMITTED:  February 1, 2022 MEETING DATE: February 8, 2023 

TO: BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS FROM:  Justin Clary, General Manager 

GENERAL MANAGER APPROVAL 
 

ATTACHED DOCUMENTS 1. 2023 District Salary Matrix 

TYPE OF ACTION REQUESTED 
RESOLUTION 

 
 

FORMAL ACTION/ 
MOTION 

 

INFORMATIONAL

/OTHER 
 

 

BACKGROUND / EXPLANATION OF IMPACT 
Lake Whatcom Water and Sewer District (District) staff are comprised of employees under 
three employment relationships with the District: 

1. employees represented by the American Federation of State, County and Municipal 
Employees (AFSCME) Council 2 Local 114WD (all employees not identified below); 

2. at-will employees subject to the terms of an executed offer letter (District Engineer, 
Finance Manager, Operations Manager, and Administrative Assistant); and 

3. at-will employee subject to an individual employment contract (General Manager). 

Since at least 2010 the District has implemented a salary matrix that defines the 
compensation for all staff (except for the General Manager whose salary is dictated by the 
associated employment contract) based upon position and tenure. The salary matrix (2023 
matrix is attached) is a seven (7) step squared pay schedule program with a 4% spread 
between each step and nineteen (19) pay grades with 5% between each grade. Each 
District position has been placed at the grade at which that position’s description best 
aligned with comparable positions of similar agencies through the most recent salary 
survey (completed in 2018; the next salary survey is budgeted for 2024 in preparation for 
negotiation of a successor AFSCME agreement). An employee advances up a step (4% 
salary increase) on their anniversary of employment with the District until they reach the 
top step (Step 7). The salary matrix is integrated into the current collective bargaining 
agreement with AFSCME and in the offer of employment letters executed by the non-
represented staff (the General Manager’s salary is reviewed annually by the Board 
independent of the salary matrix). 

The salary matrix is revised annually to reflect a cost-of-living-adjustment (COLA) defined in 
the current AFSCME agreement. Traditionally and to maintain the uniformity of the 
squared salary matrix, the Board has annually approved COLAs for non-represented staff 
consistent with the COLA defined in the AFSCME agreement. 

AGENDA 
BILL 

Item 6.D 

Page 40 of 46



The AFSCME agreement required a COLA for 2023 per: 
Effective January 1, 2023, the compensation schedule in effect December 31, 2022 
shall be increased by the CPI-U (consumer price index for all urban users in the Seattle 
area) for October 2021 to October 2022, but not less than 1% and not more than 3%. 
Should the October 2022 CPI-U exceed 3.5%, the District shall also provide each 
represented employee a one-time payment of $500 on the first paycheck of 2023, and 
should the CPI-U exceed 4%, the District shall provide an additional $500 on the same 
paycheck. 

The October 2021-to-October 2022 CPI-U for the Seattle area was 8.9%. Per the AFSCME 
agreement, all represented employees received a 3% COLA for 2023, plus a one-time 
$1,000 payment on their first paycheck of the year. During its December 14, 2022 meeting, 
the Board approved a COLA and one-time payment for non-represented staff consistent 
with that provided represented staff. During Board discussion, recognizing that the Seattle 
CPI-U from October 2021-to-October 2022 was 8.9%, Commissioner Ford requested that 
discussion pertaining to the District’s compensation philosophy be placed on a future 
board meeting agenda. 

FISCAL IMPACT 
Fiscal impact will be dependent upon any Board direction given contrary to the budgeted 
3% COLA for all employees. 

APPLICABLE EFFECTIVE UTILITY MANAGEMENT ATTRIBUTE(S) 
Employee Leadership & Development 

RECOMMENDED BOARD ACTION 
Staff recommends that the Board discuss District’s current compensation philosophy. 

PROPOSED MOTION 
Not applicable. 

  
 

Page 41 of 46



APPENDIX A

2023 LAKE WHATCOM WATER AND SEWER DISTRICT PAY SCHEDULE

JOB CLASSIFICATION DEPARTMENT PAY GRADE STEP 1 STEP 2 STEP 3 STEP 4 STEP 5 STEP 6 STEP 7

20

DISTRICT ENGINEER/ASST. GM Exempt 19 58.12 60.45 62.87 65.38 68.00 70.72 73.54

18 53.82 55.97 58.21 60.54 62.96 65.48 68.10

FINANCE MANAGER/TREASURER Exempt 17 51.26 53.31 55.44 57.66 59.96 62.36 64.85

OPERATIONS/MAINTENANCE MANAGER Exempt 16 48.81 50.77 52.80 54.91 57.11 59.39 61.77

CONSTRUCTION ENGINEER Engineering 15 46.49 48.35 50.28 52.30 54.39 56.56 58.82

14 44.28 46.05 47.89 49.80 51.80 53.87 56.02

13 42.17 43.85 45.61 47.43 49.33 51.30 53.36

MAINTENANCE ELECTRICIAN Operations 12 40.16 41.77 43.44 45.17 46.98 48.86 50.82

WATER TREATMENT PLANT OPERATOR Operations 11 38.25 39.78 41.37 43.02 44.74 46.53 48.40

LEAD MAINTENANCE WORKER Operations 10 36.43 37.88 39.40 40.97 42.61 44.32 46.09

ENGINEERING TECHNICIAN/SAFETY OFFICER Engineering 9 34.69 36.08 37.52 39.02 40.58 42.21 43.90

MAINTENANCE WORKER II Operations 8 33.04 34.36 35.74 37.17 38.65 40.20 41.81

ADMINSTRATIVE ASSISTANT Administration 7 31.47 32.73 34.03 35.40 36.81 38.28 39.82

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE/PAYROLL TECHNICIAN Administration 7 31.47 32.73 34.03 35.40 36.81 38.28 39.82

UTILITY SYSTEMS SUPPORT SPECIALIST Operations 7 31.47 32.73 34.03 35.40 36.81 38.28 39.82

6 29.97 31.17 32.41 33.71 35.06 36.46 37.92

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE TECHNICIAN Administration 5 28.54 29.68 30.87 32.10 33.39 34.72 36.11

MAINTENANCE WORKER I Operations 5 28.54 29.68 30.87 32.10 33.39 34.72 36.11

ACCOUNTING CLERK Administration 4 27.18 28.27 29.40 30.58 31.80 33.07 34.39

3 25.89 26.92 28.00 29.12 30.28 31.50 32.76

2 24.65 25.64 26.67 27.73 28.84 30.00 31.20

1 23.48 24.42 25.40 26.41 27.47 28.57 29.71

NOTES: 

1) Squared pay schedule results in 4% between pay steps and 5% between pay grades.

Page 42 of 46



 

  

General Manager’s 
Report 

 

DATE SUBMITTED:  February 2, 2023 MEETING DATE: February 8, 2023 

TO: BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS FROM:  Justin Clary, General Manager 

GENERAL MANAGER APPROVAL 
 

ATTACHED DOCUMENTS 1. General Manager’s Report 

TYPE OF ACTION REQUESTED 
RESOLUTION 

 
 

FORMAL ACTION/ 
MOTION 

 

INFORMATIONAL

/OTHER 
 

 
BACKGROUND / EXPLANATION OF IMPACT 
Updated information from the General Manager in advance of the Board meeting. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
None. 
 
RECOMMENDED BOARD ACTION 
None required. 
 
PROPOSED MOTION 
None. 

AGENDA 
BILL 

Item 8.A 

Page 43 of 46



GENERAL MANAGER’S REPORT PAGE 1 

LAKE WHATCOM WATER & SEWER DISTRICT 

 

 

  
LAKE WHATCOM WATER AND SEWER DISTRICT 

General Manager’s Report 
Upcoming Dates & Announcements 

Regular Meeting – Wednesday, February 8, 2023 – 6:30 p.m. 

Important Upcoming Dates 

Lake Whatcom Water & Sewer District 

Regular Board Meeting Wed Feb 22, 2023 8:00 a.m. Board Room/Hybrid 

Employee Staff Meeting Thu Feb 9, 2023 8:00 a.m. 
Board Room/Hybrid 
Commissioner Carter to attend 

Investment Comm. Meeting Wed Apr 26, 2023 10:00 a.m. Board Room/Hybrid 

Safety Committee Meeting Wed Feb 23, 2023 8:00 a.m. Board Room/Hybrid 

Lake Whatcom Management Program 

Policy Group Meeting Wed Feb 8, 2023 3:00 p.m. 
City of Bellingham Fireplace Room 
625 Halleck Street/Hybrid 

Joint Councils Meeting Wed Mar 29, 2023 6:00 p.m. 
Bellingham City Council Chambers 
210 Lottie Street 

Other Meetings 

WASWD Section III Meeting Tue Feb 14, 2023 6:00 p.m. 
Bob’s Burgers 
8822 Quil Ceda Pkwy, Tulalip, WA 

Whatcom Water Districts 
Caucus Meeting 

Wed Feb 15, 2023 2:00 p.m. Remote Attendance 

Whatcom County Council of 
Governments Board Meeting 

Wed May 10, 2022 3:00 p.m. 
Council of Governments Offices 
314 E Champion Street/Hybrid 

Committee Meeting Reports 

Safety Committee: 
➢ The committee met on January 25; discussion included the status on procurement of fall 

protection bolts for wet wells; scheduled training (confined space January 26 and CPR/first aid 
February 23); and the status on safety programs review, staff online safety training and safety 
inspections. 

Investment Committee: 
➢ The committee met on January 25; discussion included review of current available cash, current 

investments, and a review of the reserve policies as they relate to future large capital projects. 

Upcoming Board Meeting Topics 

➢ Voluntary billing suspension policy recension 
➢ 2022 strategic plan accomplishments review 
➢ Facility security risk assessment contract award 
➢ City of Bellingham Post Point Resource Recovery Project shift implications on District 
➢ Glen Cove Water Association assumption consideration 

Page 44 of 46



GENERAL MANAGER’S REPORT PAGE 2 

LAKE WHATCOM WATER & SEWER DISTRICT 

 

2023 Initiatives Status 

Administration and Operations 

Performance Management 
➢ Explore various approaches to performance management (PerformanceStat, Lean/Six Sigma, 

etc.) for implementation in coming years (Six-Year Strategic Business Plan goal). 
To be initiated. 

Operations Manager Support 
➢ To facilitate the success of Jason Dahlstrom in his new role as O&M Manager, devote more time 

to coordinating and assisting Mr. Dahlstrom than has been recently provided to this position. 
Monthly one-on-one check-in meetings are scheduled throughout 2023; additional support will 
be provided as identified/needed. 

Records Management System Overhaul 
➢ Implement new records management system (Six-Year Strategic Business Plan goal). 

The District contracted with an enterprise content management (ECM) expert that identified the 
most-applicable records management system for the District. Staff met on January 18 to scope 
the software components relative to District needs. 

Safety Program Update 
➢ Continue systematic review and revision of District’s safety programs by updating eight 

programs in 2023. 
The safety committee has finalized updates to one (1) program (hand & power tools) and is 
reviewing the flagging & traffic control program. 

Capital Improvement Program Support 
➢ Support the Engineering Department through management of specific capital improvement 

project(s). 
Due to workload issues within the Engineering Department, the general manager has taken on a 
support role (either in the form of project manager or providing technical support) for several 
District capital improvement projects. 

Emergency Response/System Security 

Emergency Readiness 
➢ Continue use of Whatcom County Department of Emergency Management services to hold 

tabletop and/or field emergency response field exercises. 
Staff met with Whatcom County personnel on January 19 to begin scoping 2023 activities. 

Cybersecurity Assessment 
➢ Hire an IT-service provider to perform a third-party assessment of the District’s vulnerability to 

cybercriminal attack. 
A USEPA-provided confidential cybersecurity assessment of the District’s systems was completed 
in 2022; implementation of recommendations from that assessment is underway. A third-party 
consultant will then be hired to complete a vulnerability assessment following implementation of 
the 2022 assessment recommendations. 

  

Page 45 of 46



GENERAL MANAGER’S REPORT PAGE 3 

LAKE WHATCOM WATER & SEWER DISTRICT 

 

Business Continuity Plan 
➢ Develop a District-specific business continuity plan following FEMA guidance that leads District 

transition from emergency response (District Emergency Response Plan) to return to normal 
operation following a disruptive event. 
A draft of the plan is under preparation. 

Community/Public Relations 

General 
➢ Website 

The District’s web content is reviewed and updated on a regular basis. 
➢ Social Media 

Posts are made to District Facebook, LinkedIn, and Nextdoor (new) pages regularly; Nextdoor is 
also regularly monitored for District-related posts. 

➢ Press Releases 
A press release was issued on January 26 associated with the District’s clean audit. 

Intergovernmental Relations 
➢ J Clary attended a reception with Congressman Larsen the evening of January 23. 
➢ J Clary attended a federal legislative priorities meeting (virtual) hosted by the National Special 

Districts Coalition (through WASWD membership) on January 25. 
➢ J Clary attended a Department of Ecology (virtual) meeting on January 30 regarding the 

Nooksack River Basin adjudication. 
➢ J Clary is scheduled to attend the WASWD general managers’ meeting (virtual) on February 2. 
➢ J Clary is scheduled to testify on February 2 before the State Senate Ways & Means Committee in 

support of the Public Works Board’s 2023-24 biennium requests. 
➢ J Clary is scheduled to meet (virtually) with Representative Ramel on February 3 regarding 

District legislative priorities 
➢ J Clary is scheduled to attend a WASWD webinar on February 7 regarding changes to the Retro 

Program. 

Lake Whatcom Water Quality 

Lake Whatcom Management Program 
➢ Participate in meetings of Lake Whatcom Management Program partners. 

J Clary is scheduled to attend the policy group meeting on February 8. 

Page 46 of 46


	0 Meeting Access
	1 Agenda
	5 Consent Agenda
	5.1 Minutes 2023.01.11
	5.2 Minutes 2023.01.25
	5.3 4th Quarter 2022 Payroll Taxes
	6.A DEA Application - SVCA Culvert 315
	6.A.1 DEA Application Submittal
	6.B Commissioner Social Media Policy
	6.B.1 Commissioner Protocol Manual Draft
	6.C Capital Surplus Policy
	6.D Compensation Philosophy
	6.D.1 2023 Salary Matrix
	8 Managers Report
	8.1 General Manager's Report

